

NATIONAL CENTER FOR EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING RESEARCH

State University of New York at Buffalo

DYNAMIC COMPLIANCE OF VERTICALLY LOADED STRIP FOUNDATIONS IN MULTILAYERED VISCOELASTIC SOILS

by

S. Ahmad and A.S.M. Israil

Department of Civil Engineering State University of New York at Buffalo Buffalo, NY 14260

Technical Report NCEER-88-0017

June 17, 1988

This research was conducted at the State University of New York at Buffalo and was partially supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. ECE 86-07591.

REPRODUCED BY U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE NATIONAL TECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE SPRINGFIELD, VA 22161

NOTICE

This report was prepared by the State University of New York at Buffalo as a result of research sponsored by the National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research (NCEER) and the National Science Foundation. Neither NCEER, associates of NCEER, its sponsors, State University of New York at Buffalo, nor any person acting on their behalf:

- a. makes any warranty, express or implied, with respect to the use of any information, apparatus, method, or process disclosed in this report or that such use may not infringe upon privately owned rights; or
- b. assumes any liabilities of whatsoever kind with respect to the use of, or for damages resulting from the use of, any information, apparatus, method or process disclosed in this report.



DYNAMIC COMPLIANCE OF VERTICALLY LOADED STRIP FOUNDATIONS IN MULTILAYERED VISCOELASTIC SOILS

by

S. Ahmad¹ and A.S.M. Israil²

June 17, 1988

Technical Report NCEER-88-0017

NSF Master Contract Number ECE 86-07591

1 Assistant Professor, Dept. of Civil Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo

2 Graduate Student, Dept. of Civil Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo

NATIONAL CENTER FOR EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING RESEARCH State University of New York at Buffalo Red Jacket Quadrangle, Buffalo, NY 14261

ţ. ٢

1

¥.

ţ.

PREFACE

The National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research (NCEER) is devoted to the expansion of knowledge about earthquakes, the improvement of earthquake-resistant design, and the implementation of seismic hazard mitigation procedures to minimize loss of lives and property. Initially, the emphasis is on structures and lifelines of the types that would be found in zones of moderate seismicity, such as the eastern and central United States.

NCEER's research is being carried out in an integrated and coordinated manner following a structured program. The current research program comprises four main areas:

- Existing and New Structures
- Secondary and Protective Systems
- Lifeline Systems
- Disaster Research and Planning

This technical report pertains to Program 1, Existing and New Structures, and more specifically to Geotechnical Studies.

The long term goal of research in Existing and New Structures is to develop methods for rational probabilistic risk assessment for damage or collapse of structures, mainly existing buildings, especially in regions of moderate seismicity. The work will rely on improved definitions of seismicity and site response, experimental and analytical evaluations of systems response, and more accurate assessment of risk factors. This technology will be incorporated in expert systems tools and improved code formats for existing and new structures. Methods of retrofit will also be developed. When this work is completed, it should be possible to characterize and quantify societal impact of seismic risk in various geographical regions and large municipalities. Toward this goal, the program has been divided into five components, as shown in the figure below:



Tasks: Earthquake Hazards Estimates, Ground Motion Estimates, New Ground Motion Instrumentation, Earthquake & Ground Motion Data Base

Site Response Estimates, Large Ground Deformation Estimates, Soil-Structure Interaction.

Typical Structures and Critical Structural Components: Testing and Analysis; Modern Analytical Tools.

Determine Adequacy of Codes, Damage Assessment, Evaluation Methodology, Risk and Reliability Analysis.

Architectural and Structural Design, Evaluation of Existing Buildings. Geotechnical Studies constitute one of the important areas of research in Existing and New Structures. Current research activities include the following:

- 1. Development of linear and nonlinear site response estimates.
- 2. Development of liquefaction and large ground deformation estimates.
- 3. Investigation of soil-structure interaction phenomena.
- 4. Development of computational methods.
- 5. Incorporation of local soil effects and soil-structure interaction into existing codes.

The ultimate goal of projects concerned with Geotechnical Studies is to develop methods of engineering estimation of large soil deformations, soil-structure interaction and site response.

In this report, the dynamic response of a rigid strip foundation under vertical loading is obtained using the boundary element method. The effects of various factors, such as material damping, layering, embedment, and the type of foundation-soil contact, are evaluated. The influence of a soil layer on bedrock or on a half-space are studied. Such layers shift the resonant frequencies and change the amplitudes. Specific results are compared with known solutions.

ABSTRACT

In this report, results of a detailed investigation on the dynamic response of rigid strip foundation, in viscoelastic soils, under vertical excitation are presented. An advanced Boundary Element algorithm developed by incorporating isoparametric quadratic elements and a sophisticated selfadoptive numerical integration scheme has been used for this investigation. Foundations supported on three types of soil profiles: half-space, stratum- over-half-space and stratum-over-bedrock are considered. Influence of material properties like Poisson's ratio, material damping as well as the influence of geometrical properties, such as depth of embedment and layer thickness are studied. The effect of the type of contact at the soil-foundation interface are also investigated. · · · ·

.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to express their sincere appreciation to Professor R.L. Ketter and the National Earthquake Engineering Research Center (NCEER) for their support. The authors also wish to express their gratitude to Professor P.K. Banerjee for many valuable discussions and also to Mr. Hubert Consol for his help in data preparation.

.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE		
1.	INTRODUCTION	1-1
2.	BOUNDARY INTEGRAL FORMULATION FOR ELASTODYNAMICS	2-1
3.	CONVERGENCE STUDIES AND ACCURACY OF ANALYSIS	3-1
	3.1 Dynamic Compliance: Definition	3-1
	3.2 Convergence Studies and Discretization	3-3
	3.3 Comparison with Published Results	3-4
4.	PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS	4-1
	4.1 Parameters for the Study	4-1
	4.2 Effect of Poisson's Ratio	4-1
	4.3 Effect of Material Damping	4-1
	4.4 Effect of μ_1/μ_2	4-4
	4.5 Effect of H/B for Stratum Over Bedrock	4-10
	4.6 Effect of H/B for Stratum Over Half-space	4-10
	4.7 Effect of Type of Contact	4-13
	4.8 Effect of Embedment	4-18
5.	CONCLUSION	5-1
6.	REPERENCES	6-1

Preceding page blank

ix

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

FIGURE	TITLE	PAGE
3-1	Strip Foundation on Stratum Overlaying Half-space	3-2
3-2	Typical Discretization Patterns for Foundations on Stratum-over-half-space	3-5
33	Comparison of Vertical Compliances of Strip Footing on Stratum-over-half-space	3-6
4-2	Effects of Poisson's Ratio	4-2
4-3	Effect of Material Damping	4-5
4-4	Effect of μ_1/μ_2	4-8
4-5	Effect of Stratum-depth (overlaying bedrock)	4-11
4–6	Effect of Depth of Top Layer (overlaying half-space)	4-14
4-7	Effect of Type of Contact at the Soil Foundation Interface	4-16
4-8	Effect of Embedment for Foundation Over Half-space	4-19
4-9	Effect of Embedment for Foundation on Soil Overlaying Half-space	4-20
4-10	Effect of Embedment for Foundation on Stratum-over- bedrock	4-21

. .

SECTION 1

INTRODUCTION

The study of the dynamic response of rigid foundations is of significant importance in machine foundation design and soil-foundation interaction problems in general. Observation of earthquake damage indicates that the local soil properties as well as foundation geometries, depth of embedment, soil profile, etc. play an important role in the dynamic behavior of the soil-foundation system.

Considering the importance of dynamic soil-structure interaction, a great deal of research has been carried out in this area in the last few decades. Reissner [24] established the theoretical basis for studying the response of a footing on an elastic half-space based on Lamb's [21] solution of the dynamic point load on an elastic half-space. Quinlan [23], Sung [28] and Bycroft [8] have approached this problem by assuming the dynamic stress distribution under a footing to be similar to the static stress distribution. Awojobi and Grootenhuis [6] solved the problem of a smooth circular rigid disc undergoing vertical oscillation using a set of dual integral equations. Karashudi, Keer and Lee [16] extended this approach to the solution of vertical, horizontal and rocking oscillations of a rigid strip footing on elastic half-space. Luco and Westmann [22] studied the vertical, horizontal and rocking motions of a rigid strip footing bonded to an elastic half-plane using a formulation in terms of Green's functions. Hryniewicz [15] investigated the dynamic behavior of rigid strip foundation under plane strain condition. All of the above work can be classified into broad categories of analytical or semi-analytical approach.

With the advent of the digital computer, numerical methods such as Finite Difference Method (FDM) and Finite Element Method (FEM) have gained considerable popularity. The FDM is not suitable for problems with complex geometries, whereas the FEM can handle problems with non-linearities, layering, complex geometries, and boundary conditions. However, one limitation of FEM is its inability of proper modelling of an unbounded soil media by satisfying the wave radiation condition. Day and Frazier [10] suggested the use of artificial boundaries far away from the region of interest so as to avoid the undesirable wave reflections. Others recommended the use of transmitting or non-reflecting boundaries (Roesset and Ettouney [25], Kausel and Tassoulas [18]) to circumvent this problem.

During the last two decades, the Boundary Element Method (BEM) has emerged as one of the most effective numerical techniques for solving a wide class of engineering problems. In this method, as the name signifies, only the boundary of the domain needs to be modelled, thereby reducing the problem dimensionality by one. Moreover, boundary integral representation is an exact formulation of the problem and the only approximations are those due to the numerical implementation of these integral equations. This method is especially suitable for problems involving infinite or semiinfinite domain because the Green's function which is used in the BEM formulation automatically satisfies the radiation condition at the farfield.

The first numerical implementation of the elastodynamic formulation of BEM was done by Cruse and Rizzo [9]. However, Dominguez [11] was apparently the first to study the dynamic response of rigid surface and embedded rigid foundations by BEM in the frequency domain. Spyrakos and Beskos [26,27] used time domain BEM in the study of dynamic behavior of 2D rigid and flexible foundations. Abascal and Dominguez [1] used BEM to find

the dynamic compliance of rigid strip footing on viscoelastic soil. In all of the above work, the displacements and tractions were assumed to remain constant within an element, i.e., constant elements were used to model the geometry as well as to represent the field variables. However, as suggested by Kobayashi and Nishimura [19], for dynamic problems it is important to use higher order elements so that the variation of the functions are compatible with the wavy nature of the problem. Ahmad [2], and Ahmad and Banerjee [3] used BEM with isoparametric quadratic elements to study some two-dimensional dynamic problems and demonstrated the accuracy of the higher order BEM implementation. Ahmad et al. [4] studied the dynamic stiffness of rectangular foundations using a higher order implementation of the Direct and Indirect BEM for the three-dimensional case.

In this report, the influence of mechanical soil properties like Poisson's ratio, internal material damping and various other geometrical parameters such as depth of embedment, layer on half-space, layer on bedrock, as well as the effect of the type of contact at the soil foundation interface on the vertical dynamic compliance of rigid strip footing are studied in a comprehensive manner. The soil profiles are considered to be viscoelastic. All of the analyses are carried out by Boundary Element Method incorporating higher order (quadratic) boundary elements. To the best of the authors' knowledge, nowhere in the published literature does such a comprehensive study using BEM exist.

SECTION 2

BOUNDARY INTEGRAL FORMULATION FOR ELASTODYNAMICS

The Navier-Cauchy equation for linear elastodynamics is expressed in terms of displacement, u, as

$$(c_1^2 - c_2^2)u_{i,ij} + c_2^2 u_{j,ii} + b_j = \ddot{u}_j$$
 (2.1)

where

u = u(x,t), x being the cartesian position vector, and t is the time: b_j is the body force vector; c_1 and c_2 are the dilatational and shear wave velocities respectively given in terms of the Lamé constants (λ, μ) by the relations;

$$c_1^2 = (\lambda + 2\mu) / \rho;$$

 $c_2^2 = \mu / \rho;$

where p is the mass density of the medium.

In equation (2.1), summation convention is implied by the repeated indices, commas indicate spatial differentiation and dots represent differentiation with respect to time.

For a well posed problem, equation (2.1) is always accompanied by appropriate initial and boundary conditions.

Application of Fourier Transform on equation (2.1) in conjunction with the assumption of zero initial conditions and zero body force, leads to:

$$(c_1^2 - c_2^2)\bar{u}_{i,ij} + c_2^2\bar{u}_{j,ii} + \omega^2\bar{u}_{j} = 0$$
(2.2)

where ω is the circular natural frequency of excitation and the overbar (⁻) denotes the functions in the Fourier Transformed domain.

The dynamic equivalent of the Betti-Maxwell reciprocity relation established between the Fourier Transforms of the actual and virtual states (denoted by *), neglecting the body forces, can be written as:

$$\int_{S} \bar{t}_{i} \bar{u}_{i}^{*} dS = \int_{S} \bar{t}_{i}^{*} \bar{u}_{i} dS$$
(2.3)

where S denotes the boundary surface of the body.

By letting the virtual state be the fundamental solution state such that $\bar{u}_{i}^{*} = G_{ij}e_{j}$ and $\bar{t}^{*} = F_{ij}e_{j}$, equation (2.3) finally transforms into the following integral equation (Banerjee and Butterfield [7]):

$$C_{ij}(\xi)\overline{u}_{i}(\xi,\omega) = \int_{S} [G_{ij}(x,\xi,\omega)\overline{t}_{i}(x,\omega) - F_{ij}(x,\xi,\omega)\overline{u}_{i}(x,\omega)]dS(x) \quad (2.4)$$

where x and ξ are the source and field points respectively.

 G_{ij} and F_{ij} are the fundamental solution tensors representing the displacements and tractions at the field point in direction i due to a unit harmonic force applied at the source point in the direction j. For two-dimensional case, these fundamental solutions can be found in Ahmad and Banerjee [3].

In equation (2.4), c_{ij} is known as the jump term and it assumes the following values:

- (i) δ_{ij} if ξ is an interior point;
- (ii) O if ξ is an exterior point, and
- (iii) if ξ lies on the boundary, it is a function of the geometry of the boundary in the vicinity of ξ ; for smooth surfaces it is 0.5 δ_{ij} .

Using isoparametric boundary elements, the coordinates and the functions (displacements and tractions) at any point on the element can be expressed in terms of the nodal values as:

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i} &= N_{\alpha}(\eta) X_{i\alpha} \\ \bar{u}_{i} &= N_{\alpha}(\eta) U_{i\alpha} \\ \bar{t}_{i} &= N_{\alpha}(\eta) T_{i\alpha} \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.5)$$

where i = 1,2 (for 2D) and $\alpha = 1,2,3$ (for quadratic elements)

 X_{ia} , U_{ia} and T_{ia} are the nodal coordinates, nodal displacements and nodal tractions respectively. $N_{a}(\eta)$ are the shape functions in the intrinsic coordinate (η) of the elements.

The Jacobian of transformation between the cartesian and intrinsic coordinates are expressed as:

 $dS(x) = |J| d\eta$

After usual discretization using isoparametric boundary elements, equation (2.4), takes the following form:

$$c_{ij}(\xi)\bar{u}_{i}(\xi,\omega) = \sum_{m=1}^{M} \left[\sum_{\alpha=1}^{3} T_{i\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} G_{ij}(x(\eta),\xi,\omega)N_{\alpha}(\eta) |J| d\eta - \sum_{\alpha=1}^{3} U_{i\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} F_{ij}(x(\eta),\xi,\omega)N_{\alpha}(\eta) |J| d\eta \right]$$
(2.6)

where M is the total number of boundary elements.

Equation (2.6) can be written for all the nodes on the boundary and then these equations can be put together to form the system matrix of the form:

$$[F] \{u\} = [G] \{t\}$$
 (2.7)

where [F] and [G] are the coefficient matrices with integrands involving the F_{ij} and G_{ij} kernels, respectively,

{u} and {t} are global vectors of the nodal displacements and tractions, respectively, on the boundary.

The integrands consisting of the kernel-shape-function-Jacobian product could be either singular or non-singular depending on whether the field point ξ lies on the element being integrated or not. The numerical integration of non-singular integrals poses no problem. The singular integrals involving the G_{ij} kernels are weakly singular and can be evaluated numerically as well. However, the integrals involving the F_{ij} kernel are highly singular and exists only in the Cauchy principal value sense. They can be evaluated indirectly by introducing a rigid body type motion as discussed by Lachat and Watson [20] for elastostatics, and by Ahmad and Banerjee [3] for elastodynamics.

Transferring all the known boundary values on the right side and the unknowns on the left, equation (2.7) takes the form:

$$[A] \{X\} = [B] \{Y\}$$

or
$$[A] \{X\} = \{b\}$$
(2.8)

Solving equation (2.8), one can obtain all the unknown functions on the boundary. Once all the boundary values are known, the displacement at any interior point, if needed, can be found from equation (2.4). However, for the type of problems discussed in this report, only the functions at the boundary are of interest.

The BEM formulation described here can take into account the material damping (linear hysteretic type) by a simple transformation of the Lame constants into a complex form given by,

$$\lambda^{*} = \lambda(1+2i\beta)$$
$$\mu^{*} = \mu(1+2i\beta)$$

where β is the internal material damping ratio. The Poisson's ratio remains unchanged.

The BEM formulation can also take account of layered media by considering each layer as a separate homogeneous region, forming the BEM equations independently and then assembling together by satisfying equilibrium and capability across common interfaces.

SECTION 3

CONVERGENCE STUDIES AND ACCURACY OF ANALYSIS

3.1 Dynamic Compliance: Definition

Dynamic compliance of a rigid strip foundation indicates the amount of displacement it will undergo upon application of a unit harmonic load. It can be evaluated by inverting the dynamic stiffness which is obtained by summing up the forces developed at the soil-foundation interface due to a prescribed unit displacement of the foundation.

The vertical compliance can be expressed as:

$$\mathbf{f} = \frac{\mathbf{u}}{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{Re}[\mathbf{f}] + \mathbf{i}\mathbf{Im}[\mathbf{f}] \tag{3.1}$$

where P denotes the amplitude of vertical load and u, that of vertical displacement.

The compliance given by equation (3.1) can be written in nondimensionalized form by multiplying it with the shear modulus μ of the soil, i.e., f μ .

The values of the compliance are obtained for dimensionless frequencies from 0 to 2.5. The dimensionless frequency is defined as (after E. Reissner):

$$a_0 = \frac{\omega B}{c_2}$$

where B is the half-width of the strip foundation and c_2 is the shear wave velocity.

In the case of layered media, the values of μ and c_2 are taken to those corresponding to the top layer.

Figure 3-1 shows a typical surface and an embedded strip foundation on stratum-over-half-space.





FIGURE 3-1. Strip foundation on stratum overlaying half-space:

- (a) surface foundation(b) embedded foundation

3.2 Convergence Studies and Discretization

A series of convergence studies were conducted to select the optimum meshes for surface and embedded strip footing with bonded and lubricated interface conditions resting on half space as well as on layered soil. Limited convergence studies were carried out on relaxed boundary conditions which exhibited similar behavior as the bonded ones.

For surface foundation on half-space, in addition to the discretization of the soil-foundation contact area, only a small part of the free-surface adjacent to the foundation is needed to be modelled (5B for bonded and 3B for lubricated case). These free field elements were needed to model the deformation of the soil surface in the close neighborhood of the foundation under dynamic loading. They somewhat improved the results but not by a substantial amount.

In the case of embedded foundation on half-space, however, the freesurface discretization had to be extended further (17B for bonded case and 7B for lubricated contact). In bonded contact, the free-surface undergoes high-amplitude vibration than the lubricated case, and they have pronounced influence on the footing response; thus in the former case, extended and refined discretization is needed. However, embedded foundation, in general, needs more free-field modelling to take into account the waves impinging on the surface.

In the case of footings resting on stratum-over-half-space or stratum-over-bed-rock, extended discretization is needed both for the freesurface and the layer-interface (18B from the centerline of the foundation) in all contact cases, since waves are reflected back and forth from the surface and the layer-interface (or bedrock). Finer discretizations were used for parts of the free-surface and layer-interface in close proximity to the foundation (7B for the bonded case, 2B for the lubricated one) with

element length about 1/4 to 1/6 the Raleigh wave-lengths. Coarser elements with lengths about half the wave lengths were found to be adequate for distant locations.

The soil-foundation interface was modelled using four elements for surface foundations and eleven for embedded ones in all cases. Two typical meshes for surface and embedded foundations on stratum-over-half-space are presented in Figure 3-2. It is to be mentioned here that the present BEM formulation can take advantage of the symmetry of loading and geometry so that only one half of the system needs to be modelled and thus reduces the computing time by half.

3.3 Comparison with Published Results

To establish the accuracy of the present analysis, the vertical compliance of a rigid strip footing resting on a viscoelastic soil profile was analyzed. In one case, the soil profile was half-space and in the other case it consisted of a stratum lying over a half-space. In both cases, the soil was assumed to have a Poisson's ratio of 0.40 and 5% material damping. The stratum had a thickness H/B = 2 and shear modulus μ_1 , and the underlying half-space had a shear modulus μ_2 . The study was conducted for $\mu_1/\mu_2 = 0.25$. The footing was assumed to be bonded to the soil. The discretization pattern was as mentioned in the previous section. The vertical compliances obtained by the present methodology are compared with those of Gazetas and Roesset [13] (Figure 3-3) who used a semi-analytical method consisted of replacing the dual integrals by a discrete Fast Fourier transform. Reasonable agreement can be noticed between the two sets of results presented in Figure 3-3.





Typical discretization patterns for foundations on stratum-over-half-space: FIGURE 3-2.

- (a) surface foundation(b) embedded foundation





FIGURE 3-3. Comparison of vertical compliances of strip footing on stratum-over-half-space ($v = 0.40; \beta = .05; H/B = 2$)

SECTION 4

PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS

4.1 Parameters for the Study

The studies were conducted for foundations on viscoelastic soilprofiles. Poisson's ratio of 0.33 and 5% material damping were used throughout unless otherwise stated. For embedded foundations, embedment depth was chosen to be E/B = 2 except for the studies involving effect of embedment. Bonded contact was assumed along the soil-foundation interface.

4.2 Effect of Poisson's Ratio

Poisson's ratio significantly influences the dilatational wave velocity. In the vertical vibration, the relative contribution of the dilatational wave is higher than the other waves. So variation of Poisson's ratio affects the vertical response to a considerable extent. Figure 4-2 depicts the effect of Poisson's ratio. It can be seen that as the Poisson's ratio increases, decrease in the compliance is noticed, implying that foundation becomes stiffer. When soil is loaded vertically, with increased Poisson's ratio, there will be more lateral deformation. Thus, the lateral confinement of soil will offer more resistance, thereby stiffening the system. For embedded foundation, as shown in Figure 4-2b, decrease in compliance due to the increase in Poisson's ratio is comparatively small to that of surface foundation.

4.3 Effect of Material Damping

The internal friction between soil particles and hysteresis behavior cause some energy dissipation during vibration of foundations. Experimental evidence indicates that the dissipation of energy per cycle is almost independent of frequency for small amplitude vibrations. This





FIGURE 4-2a. Effects of Poisson's ratio: Surface foundation







justifies the use of a linear hysteretic damping model to account for the internal energy losses. This model can be accommodated in theory by replacing the elastic modulii with the complex ones.

Figure 4.3 shows that increased material damping decreases the values of the compliance. For foundation on half-space, the difference is noticeable at lower frequencies, but not so at higher frequencies. The real part of the compliance is affected most, whereas the complex part remains almost unchanged except at very low frequencies. Influence of damping on embedded foundation in half-space follows a similar pattern as that of surface foundation, but to a diminutive scale. Material damping has a pronounced effect on foundations resting on layered soil. As seen in Figure 4-3c for a surface foundation lying on a stratum-over-bedrock, inclusion of material damping attenuates the resonance amplitudes significantly.

4.4 Effect of μ_1/μ_2

This study covers the influence of layering characteristics of soils on the vertical compliance. A stratum with a shear modulus of μ_1 overlaying a half-space with shear modulus μ_2 represents a general soil profile. When μ_1/μ_2 is 1, it represents the half-space case, and when $\mu_1/\mu_2 = 0$, the model reduces to a stratum-over-bed-rock. Five different values of μ_1/μ_2 (1, 0.5, 0.25, 0.05, 0.0) were used in this study covering the entire range and the results are presented in Figure 4-4. As expected, the effect of a layering is noticeable as μ_1/μ_2 changes; with extreme influence noticed for the case of bed-rock ($\mu_1/\mu_2 = 0$) and no affect for the half-space case ($\mu_1/\mu_2 = 1$).

As the relative stiffness between the top and bottom layer decreases (decrease in μ_1/μ_2), more and more waves are reflected from the interface and cause resonance in the top layer at its natural frequencies. The





FIGURE 4-3a. Effect of material damping: Surface foundation on half-space





FIGURE 4-3b, Effect of material damping: Embedded foundation on half-space





FIGURE 4-3c. Effect of material damping: Surface foundation on stratum-over-bedrock (H/B = 2)





FIGURE 4-4a. Effect of μ_1/μ_2 : Surface foundation (H/B = 2)





FIGURE 4-4b. Effect of μ_1/μ_2 : Embedded foundation (H/B = 4)

resonance peaks become narrower and steeper and the resonant frequencies shift to higher values as μ_1/μ_2 decreases. Since embedded foundation offers more damping, the resonant amplitudes are lower than surface foundations.

4.5 Effect of H/B for Stratum Over Bedrock

If bedrock, located below the soil layer, significantly affects the dynamic response of a foundation resting on or embedded in the top layer. Waves are reflected back and forth between the bedrock and the free-surface, modifying the response. In this study, for surface foundation, the layer depths were chosen to be H/B = 1,3,5 and ∞ , and in the case of embedded (E/B = 2) foundation, layer depths were taken as H/B = 3,4,6 and ∞ .

It can be seen in Figure 4-5 that the presence of bedrock modifies the compliance terms which exhibit peaks and valleys at the natural frequencies of the stratum. As the layer depth increases, the resonant frequency decreases, and the pattern shows gradual merging towards the half-space case. One interesting point to note is that in the case of a surface foundation on a very shallow soil deposit (H/B = 1), only a single flat resonance takes place, which represents the behavior of a highly damped system. The possible explanation for such a behavior is that at frequencies below the natural frequency of the top layer, some leakage of energy occurs in the form of laterally propagating P, S and R waves.

4.6 Effect of H/B for Stratum Over Half-space

The vertical oscillations have large 'zones of influence' in the downward direction. Thus, depth of the top layer will influence the response. Moreover, waves have different propagational velocities in the top and bottom profile and some wave reflection and refraction will occur





FIGURE 4-5a. Effect of stratum-depth (overlaying bedrock): Surface foundation





FIGURE 4-5b. Effect of stratum-depth (overlaying bedrock): Embedded foundation

at the interface between the layers. In this study, the depth of the top layer was varied using H/B = 1,2,3 for surface foundation and H/B = 3,4,6for embedded foundation (E/B = 2). Ratio between the shear modulii of top and bottom layer (μ_1/μ_2) was kept at 0.5. Figure 4-6 shows that the resonance peaks are more pronounced in the complex part of the compliance than the real part. For a very shallow top layer, no resonance is noticed due to possible energy leakage in the form of laterally propagating waves. With increased layer-depth, the resonant peaks become more noticeable and exhibit low resonant frequency and the pattern shows gradual transition to the half-space curves.

4.7 Effect of Type of Contact

Contact condition at the soil-foundation interface may vary. Perfect contact between the foundation and soil exists in the bonded case and the adjacent soil moves with the foundation. All degrees of freedom are coupled with each other. In the lubricated contact, a roller-like boundary condition is assumed along the interface. A third kind of contact condition termed as 'relaxed' is quite often assumed in which the degrees of freedom are uncoupled, i.e., response in one direction is not affected by the force and displacements in the other directions. For example, if the response in the vertical direction is sought, it is assumed that no force is developed in the horizontal direction.

Figure 4-7 shows the influence of the type of contact on vertical compliance. For surface foundations, both relaxed and lubricated conditions refer to the same type of contact, which are very different from a bonded contact. However, negligible difference is noticed between the bonded and the lubricated (or relaxed) contact as seen in Figure 4-7a. In the case of an embedded foundation, a lubricated boundary condition





FIGURE 4-6a. Effect of depth of top layer (overlaying half-space): Surface foundation





FIGURE 4-6b. Effect of depth of top layer (overlaying half-space): Embedded foundation

 $(\mu_1/\mu_2 = 0.5)$





FIGURE 4-7a. Effect of type of contact at the soil-foundation interface: Surface foundation





FIGURE 4-7b. Effect of type of contact at the soil-foundation interface: Embedded foundation

represents significantly different contact than the other two, since in this case there is no vertical contact along the side-wall interface. As a result, the foundation-compliance is higher in the lubricated contact, meaning the foundation will undergo greater vertical oscillation compared to the other contact conditions. This phenomenon is depicted in Figure 4-7b. Relaxed and bonded contacts exhibit virtually identical response at higher frequencies.

4.8 Effect of Embedment

Most foundations in the real world are embedded in the soil to a certain extent. Embedment significantly increases the stiffness of the foundation mainly because the contact area between the foundation and the soil is increased. That increase, however, depends on the type and degree of contact with the surrounding soil. For example, if there is no contact between the side-wall and backfill, the stiffness of an embedded foundation will be very close to that of a surface foundation. Wave interference due to embedment may also attenuate the amplitude of the response, thus showing increased damping.

Studies were done to find the effect of embedment for foundations resting on half-space, on layer-over-half-space and on stratum-over-bedrock. Three types of embedment were chosen with E/B = 0, 1 and 2. For a layered profile, the depth of the top layer was taken H/B = 3. Bonded contact was assumed along the foundation-soil interface. Figure 4-8 depicts the previously stated fact that with increased embedment, the foundation becomes stiffer, i.e., compliance decreases. When foundation lies over a layer-over-half-space or layer-over-bed-rock, embedment reduces the resonant peaks (Figures 4-9,4-10). Significant attenuation is noticed in the case of bedrock. Wave interference due to embedment might be the reason for increase in damping and reduction in the amplitude of response.





FIGURE 4-8. Effect of embedment for foundation over half-space





FIGURE 4-9. Effect of embedment for foundation on soil layer overlaying half-space (H/B = 3; $\mu_1/\mu_2 = 0.5$)





FIGURE 4-10. Effect of embedment for foundation on stratumover-bedrock (H/B = 3)

SECTION 5

CONCLUSION

A comprehensive study on the dynamic response of rigid strip foundations under vertical loading using an advanced BEM algorithm is presented. Investigations were carried out on the effects of Poisson's ratio, internal material damping, layering, layer-depth, embedment and type of contact at the foundation-soil interface. As a result of this study, it was found that the influence of the presence of a soil layer on bedrock or on half-space is to introduce resonant amplitudes in the compliance at frequencies close to the fundamental frequency of the layer. As the depth of the top layer increases, the resonant peaks become sharper and narrower, the resonant frequency decreases, and the compliance curves approach towards their half-space components. Presence of material damping attenuates the peak responses for foundations on a layered stratum. Embedment introduces additional damping in the system. Increase in the soil's Poisson's ratio makes the system stiffer. Lubricated contact at the soil-foundation interface increases the compliance for embedded foundations.

ł ł ł ł ł ł ł 1 ł ł 1 ł ł ł ł ł 1 ł ł ł 1 ł { ł ł ł

SECTION 6

REFERENCES

- Abascale, R. and Dominguez, J., 'Dynamic Behavior of Strip Footings on Non-homogeneous Viscoelastic Soils', Proc. of International Symposium on Dynamic Soil-structure Interaction, Minneapolis, 1984, pp. 25-35.
- 2. Ahmad, S., "Dynamic Stress Analysis of a Class of Geomechanics Problems by BEM", International Journal for Numerical and Analytical Methods in Geomechanics, to appear.
- 3. Ahmad, S. and Banerjee, P.K., "Multi-domain BEM for Two-dimensional Problems in Elastodynamics", International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering, Vol. 26, 1988, pp.891-911.
- 4. Ahmad, S., Israil, A.S.M. and Chen, K., "Comparison of Dynamic Stiffness of Rigid Rectangular Foundations by DBEM and IBEM", International Journal for Numerical and Analytical Methods in Geomechanics, accepted for publication.
- Arnold, R.N., Bycroft, G.N. and Warburton, G.B., "Forced Vibration of a Body on an Infinite Elastic Solid", Journal of Applied Mechanics, Vol. 22, 1955, pp. 391-400.
- Awojobi, A.O. and Grootenhuis, P., "Vibrations of Rigid Bodies on Semi-infinite Elastic Media", Proc. of the Royal Society of London, Vol. 287, Series A, 1965, pp. 27-63.
- 7. Banerjee, P.K. and Butterfield, R., Boundary Element Methods in Engineering Science, McGraw-Hill, London, 1981.
- Bycroft, G.N., "Forced Vibration of a Rigid Circular Plate on a Semiinfinite Elastic Space and on an Elastic Stratum", Philosophical Transaction of the Royal Society of London, Vol. 248, Series A, 1956, pp. 327-368.
- 9. Cruse, T.A. and Rizzo, F.J., "A Direct Formulation and Numerical Solution of the General Transient Elastodynamic Problem I", Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, Vol. 22, 1968, pp. 244-259.
- Day, S.M. and Frazier, G.A., "Seismic Response of Hemispherical Foundation", Journal of the Engineering Mechanics Division, ASCE, Vol. 105, No. EM1, 1979, pp. 29-41.
- 11. Dominguez, J., 'Dynamic Stiffness of Rectangular Foundations', Report No. R78-20, Dept. of Civil Engineering, MIT, 1978.
- Gazetas, G., "Analysis of Machine Foundation Vibration: State-ofthe-Art", Soil Dynamics and Earthquake Engineering, Vol. 2, 1983, pp. 2-42.

- Gazetas, G. and Roesset, J.M., "Forced Vibrations of Strip Footings on Layered Soils", Methods of Structural Analysis, ASCE, Vol. 1, 1976, pp. 115-131.
- Gazetas, G. and Roesset, J.M., "Vertical Vibrations of Machine Foundations", Journal of Geotechnical Engineering Division, ASCE, Vol. 105, No. GT12, 1979, pp. 1435-1454.
- Hryniewgicz, Z., "Dynamic Response of a Rigid Strip on an Elastic Half-space", Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, Vol. 25, 1981, pp. 355-364.
- Karashudi, P., Keer, L.M. and Lee, S.L., "Vibratory Motion of a Body on an Elastic Half-Space", Journal of Applied Mechanics, Vol. 35, 1968, pp. 1-9.
- Kausel, E. and Roesset, J.M., "Dynamic Stiffness of Circular Foundations", Journal of Engineering Mechanics Division, ASCE, Vol. III, No. EM6, 1975, pp. 771-785.
- Kausel, E. and Tassoulas, J.L., "Transmitting Boundaries: a Closed Form Comparison", Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, Vol. 71, 1981, pp. 143-159.
- 19. Kobayashi, S. and Nishimura, N., "Analysis of Dynamic Soil-structure Interaction by Boundary Integral Equation Method", Proc. 3rd International Symposium on Numerical Methods in Engineering, Paris, Pluralis Publication, Vol. 1, 1983, pp. 353-362.
- Lachat, J.C. and Watson, J.O., "Effective Numerical Treatment of Boundary Integral Equation", International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering, Vol. 10, 1976, pp. 991-1005.
- 21. Lamb, H., "On the Propagation of Tremors Over the Surface of an Elastic Solid", Philosophical Transaction of the Royal Society of London, Vol. 203, Series A, 1904, pp. 1-42.
- Luco, J.E. and Westmann, R.A., 'Dynamic Response of a Rigid Footing Bonded to an Elastic Half-space", Journal of Applied Mechanics, Vol. 39, 1972, pp. 527-534.
- 23. Quinlan, P.M., "The Elastic Theory of Soil Dynamics", Symposium on Dynamic Testing of Soils', ASTM, STP No. 156, 1954, pp. 3-34.
- 24. Reissner, E., "Strationare, Axial Symmetrische Durch eine Schuttelnde Masse Erregte Schwingunger eines Homogenen Elastischen Halbraumes", Ingenieur-Archiv, Vol. 7, 1936, pp. 381-396.
- 25. Roesset, J.M. and Ettourney, M.M., "Transmitting Boundaries: a Comparison", International Journal for Numerical and Analytical Methods in Geomechanics, Vol. 1, 1977, pp. 151-176.
- 26. Spyrakos, C.C. and Beskos, D.E., 'Dynamic Response of Rigid Strip Foundation by Time Domain Boundary Element Method", International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering, Vol. 23, 1986, pp. 1547-1565.

27. Spyrakos, C.C. and Beskos, D.E., "Dynamic Response of Flexible Strip Foundation by Boundary and Finite Elements", Soil Dynamics and Earthquake Engineering, Vol. 5, 1986, pp. 84-96. •

 Sung, T.Y., "Vibrations of Semi-Infinite Solids Due to Periodic Surface Loadings", Symposium on Dynamic Testing of Soils, ASTM, STP No. 156, 1954, pp. 35-64. · · · ·

NATIONAL CENTER FOR EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING RESEARCH LIST OF PUBLISHED TECHNICAL REPORTS

The National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research (NCEER) publishes technical reports on a variety of subjects related to earthquake engineering written by authors funded through NCEER. These reports are available from both NCEER's Publications Department and the National Technical Information Service (NTIS). Requests for reports should be directed to the Publications Department, National Center for Earthquake Engineering Research, State University of New York at Buffalo, Red Jacket Quadrangle, Buffalo, New York 14261. Reports can also be requested through NTIS, 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, Virginia 22161. NTIS accession numbers are shown in parenthesis, if available.

NCEER-87-0001	"First-Year Program in Research, Education and Technology Transfer," 3/5/87, (PB88-134275/AS).
NCEER-87-0002	"Experimental Evaluation of Instantaneous Optimal Algorithms for Structural Control," by R.C. Lin, T.T. Soong and A.M. Reinhorn, 4/20/87, (PB88-134341/AS).
NCEER-87-0003	"Experimentation Using the Earthquake Simulation Facilities at University at Buffalo," by A.M. Reinhorn and R.L. Ketter, to be published.
NCEER-87-0004	"The System Characteristics and Performance of a Shaking Table," by J.S. Hwang, K.C. Chang and G.C. Lee, 6/1/87, (PB88-134259/AS).
NCEER-87-0005	"A Finite Element Formulation for Nonlinear Viscoplastic Material Using a Q Model," by O. Gyebi and G. Dasgupta, 11/2/87, (PB88-213764/AS).
NCEER-87-0006	"Symbolic Manipulation Program (SMP) - Algebraic Codes for Two and Three Dimensional Finite Element Formulations," by X. Lee and G. Dasgupta, 11/9/87, (PB88-219522/AS).
NCEER-87-0007	"Instantaneous Optimal Control Laws for Tall Buildings Under Seismic Excitations," by J.N. Yang, A. Akbarpour and P. Ghaemmaghami, 6/10/87, (PB88-134333/AS).
NCEER-87-0008	"IDARC: Inelastic Damage Analysis of Reinforced Concrete-Frame Shear-Wall Structures," by Y.J. Park, A.M. Reinhorn and S.K. Kunnath, 7/20/87, (PB88-134325/AS).
NCEER-87-0009	"Liquefaction Potential for New York State: A Preliminary Report on Sites in Manhattan and Buffalo," by M. Budhu, V. Vijayakumar, R.F. Giese and L. Baumgras, 8/31/87, (PB88-163704/AS).
NCEER-87-0010	"Vertical and Torsional Vibration of Foundations in Inhomogeneous Media," by A.S. Veletsos and K.W. Dotson, 6/1/87, (PB88-134291/AS).
NCEER-87-0011	"Seismic Probabilistic Risk Assessment and Seismic Margin Studies for Nuclear Power Plants," by Howard H.M. Hwang, 6/15/87, (PB88-134267/AS).
NCEER-87-0012	"Parametric Studies of Frequency Response of Secondary Systems Under Ground-Acceleration Excitations," by Y. Yong and Y.K. Lin, 6/10/87, (PB88-134309/AS).
NCEER-87-0013	"Frequency Response of Secondary Systems Under Seismic Excitations," by J.A. HoLung, J. Cai and Y.K. Lin, 7/31/87, (PB88-134317/AS).
NCEER-87-0014	"Modelling Earthquake Ground Motions in Seismically Active Regions Using Parametric Time Series Methods," G.W. Ellis and A.S. Cakmak, 8/25/87, (PB88-134283/AS).
NCEER-87-0015	"Detection and Assessment of Seismic Structural Damage," by E. DiPasquale and A.S. Cakmak, 8/25/87, (PB88-163712/AS).
NCEER-87-0016	"Pipeline Experiment at Parkfield, California," by J. Isenberg and E. Richardson, 9/15/87, (PB88-163720/AS).
NCEER-87-0017	"Digital Simulations of Seismic Ground Motion," by M. Shinozuka, G. Deodatis and T. Harada, 8/31/87, (PB88-155197/AS).

NCEER-87-0018 "Practical Considerations for Structural Control: System Uncertainty, System Time Delay and Truncation of Small Forces," J. Yang and A. Akbarpour, 8/10/87, (PB88-163738/AS). NCEER-87-0019 "Modal Analysis of Nonclassically Damped Structural Systems Using Canonical Transformation," by J.N. Yang, S. Sarkani and F.X. Long, 9/27/87, (PB88-187851/AS). NCEER-87-0020 "A Nonstationary Solution in Random Vibration Theory," by J.R. Red-Horse and P.D. Spanos, 11/3/87. (PB88-163746/AS). NCEER-87-0021 "Horizontal Impedances for Radially Inhomogeneous Viscoelastic Soil Layers," by A.S. Veletsos and K.W. Dotson, 10/15/87, (PB88-150859/AS), NCEER-87-0022 "Seismic Damage Assessment of Reinforced Concrete Members," by Y.S. Chung, C. Meyer and M. Shinozuka, 10/9/87, (PB88-150867/AS). "Active Structural Control in Civil Engineering," by T.T. Soong, 11/11/87, (PB88-187778/AS). NCEER-87-0023 NCEER-87-0024 "Vertical and Torsional Impedances for Radially Inhomogeneous Viscoelastic Soil Layers," by K.W. Dotson and A.S. Veletsos, 12/87, (PB88-187786/AS). NCEER-87-0025 "Proceedings from the Symposium on Seismic Hazards, Ground Motions, Soil-Liquefaction and Engineering Practice in Eastern North America, October 20-22, 1987, edited by K.H. Jacob, 12/87, (PB88-188115/AS). NCEER-87-0026 "Report on the Whittier-Narrows, California, Earthquake of October 1, 1987," by J. Pantelic and A. Reinhorn, 11/87, (PB88-187752/AS). "Design of a Modular Program for Transient Nonlinear Analysis of Large 3-D Building Structures," by NCEER-87-0027 S. Srivastav and J.F. Abel, 12/30/87, (PB88-187950/AS). NCEER-87-0028 "Second-Year Program in Research, Education and Technology Transfer," 3/8/88, (PB88-219480/AS). NCEER-88-0001 "Workshop on Seismic Computer Analysis and Design With Interactive Graphics," by J.F. Abel and C.H. Conley, 1/18/88, (PB88-187760/AS). "Optimal Control of Nonlinear Structures," J.N. Yang, F.X. Long and D. Wong, 1/22/88, NCEER-88-0002 (PB88-213772/AS). NCEER-88-0003 "Substructuring Techniques in the Time Domain for Primary-Secondary Structural Systems," by G. D. Manolis and G. Juhn, 2/10/88, (PB88-213780/AS). "Iterative Seismic Analysis of Primary-Secondary Systems," by A. Singhal, L.D. Lutes and P. Spanos, NCEER-88-0004 2/23/88, (PB88-213798/AS). NCEER-88-0005 "Stochastic Finite Element Expansion for Random Media," P. D. Spanos and R. Ghanem, 3/14/88, (PB88-213806/AS). "Combining Structural Optimization and Structural Control," F. Y. Cheng and C. P. Pantelides, 1/10/88, NCEER-88-0006 (PB88-213814/AS). NCEER-88-0007 "Seismic Performance Assessment of Code-Designed Structures," H.H-M. Hwang, J. Jaw and H. Shau, 3/20/88, (PB88-219423/AS). "Reliability Analysis of Code-Designed Structures Under Natural Hazards," H.H.-M. Hwang, H. Ushiba NCEER-88-0008 and M. Shinozuka, 2/29/88.

NCEER-88-0009	"Seismic Fragility Analysis of Shear Wall Structures," J-W Jaw and H.H-M. Hwang, 4/30/88.
NCEER-88-0010	"Base Isolation of a Multi-Story Building Under a Harmonic Ground Motion - A Comparison of Performances of Various Systems," F-G Fan, G. Ahmadi and I.G. Tadjbakhsh, to be published.
NCEER-88-0011	"Seismic Floor Response Spectra for a Combined System by Green's Functions," F.M. Lavelle, L.A. Bergman and P.D. Spanos, 5/1/88.
NCEER-88-0012	"A New Solution Technique for Randomly Excited Hysteretic Structures," G.Q. Cai and Y.K. Lin, 5/16/88.
NCEER-88-0013	"A Study of Radiation Damping and Soil-Structure Interaction Effects in the Centrifuge," K. Weissman, supervised by J.H. Prevost, 5/24/88, to be published.
NCEER-88-0014	"Parameter Identification and Implementation of a Kinematic Plasticity Model for Frictional Soils," J.H. Prevost and D.V. Griffiths, to be published.
NCEER-88-0015	'Two- and Three-Dimensional Dynamic Finite Element Analyses of the Long Valley Dam," D.V. Griffiths and J.H. Prevost, to be published.
NCEER-88-0016	"Damage Assessment of Reinforced Concrete Structures in Eastern United States," A.M. Reinhorn, M.J. Seidel, S.K. Kunnath and Y.J. Park, 6/88.
NCEER-88-0017	"Dynamic Compliance of Vertically Loaded Strip Foundations in Multilayered Viscoelastic Soils," S. Ahmad and A.S.M. Israil.